
CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   39 
HEARING DATE:   06/27/16 

 
 

- 1 - 

 1.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC14-00156 
CASE NAME: DAMOUDE  vs.  CHEVRON USA 
HEARING ON MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT OR SUMMARY ADJUDICATION 
FILED BY CHEVRON U.S.A. INC. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 

 Defendant Chevron U.S.A, Inc.’s motion for summary judgment is denied.  Defendant’s 
motion for summary adjudication is also denied.   

 As to the first cause of action for a violation of the California Family Rights Act (“CFRA”), 
Gov’t Code Section 12945.2, Plaintiff has alleged both a failure to allow a CFRA leave and 
retaliation for taking a CFRA leave.   

FAILURE TO ALLOW A CFRA LEAVE  

 There is no evidence that Plaintiff ever specifically requested, or was denied, a CFRA 
leave by Chevron.  It is well-settled that the employer does not have any duty to “read an 
employee’s mind” about his need for a leave.  The regulations concerning the CFRA themselves 
state that, although the employee need not specifically reference CFRA, he must “provide at 
least verbal notice sufficient to make the employer aware that the employee needs a CFRA 
leave and the anticipated timing and duration of the leave. . . [T]he employee must state the 
reason the leave is needed, such as, for example, the expected birth of a child or for medical 
treatment.”  See 2 Cal Code Regs. Section 7297.4(a)(1); Stevens v. Department of Corrections 
(2003) 107 Cal.App.4th 285, 290-293.   

 Plaintiff never requested time off related to his back injury, sleeplessness or stress.  
Indeed, the facts show the opposite.  On July 12, 2011, after he first reported his back injury to a 
supervisor, Farina, he was asked if he wanted to go home, and he declined and continued 
working.  (Fact 7 – Undisputed, as stated)  Plaintiff himself testified that he told Farina that “he 
would monitor his pain and continue with ice packs at work.”  See Damoude Decl., paragraph 6.  
Plaintiff also testified that, he “treated [his] back by myself with pain medication and ice packs 
and continued to work until July 18, 2011.”  He stated:  “I was able to work my shifts after the 
injury because I was taking Motrin and using ice packs.”  See Damoude Decl., paragraph 7.  
Damoude also confessed to Liening on August 3, 2011, that he had been dealing with 
sleeplessness and personal issues at home since before he hurt his back on the 10th and was 
self-medicating with Motrin and Nyquil.  See Adeyemo Decl., Exhibit D.   
 
RETALIATION FOR TAKING A CFRA LEAVE 

 The elements of a cause of action for retaliation in violation of CFRA are:  (1)  The 
defendant was an employer covered by CFRA; (2)  The plaintiff was an employee eligible to 
take CFRA leave; (3)  The plaintiff exercised the right to take leave for a qualifying CFRA 
purpose; (4)  The plaintiff suffered an adverse employment action, such as termination, fine, or 
suspension because of the exercise of the right to CFRA leave. See Rogers v. County of Los 
Angeles (2011) 198 Cal.App.4th 480, 491; Dudley v. Department of Transportation (2001) 90 
Cal.App.4th 255, 261; CACI 2620.   
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 While there is no evidence that Defendant ever denied any request for a CFRA leave, 
Plaintiff did take a brief leave in late July, which Defendant has failed to show was not a CFRA 
leave.  He was taken off work for four shifts by an employee of EAP.  (Fact 15 – Disputed (but 
cannot located disputed facts) While the evidence shows that this leave was for “stress” and 
“behavioral” issues, rather than back pain  (Garvey Depo., as cited in Fact 15), it may still have 
qualified as a CFRA leave.  A CFRA leave for an employee’s own health condition requires “a 
serious health condition that makes the employee unable to perform the functions of his or her 
position.”  See Gov’t Code Section 12945.2(c)(3)(C); Stevens v. Department of Corrections 
(2003) 107 Cal.App.4th 285, 292.  Defendant’s employment was not terminated until August 11, 
2011.  Thus, the sequence of events makes it at least possible that the termination was in 
retaliation for that leave.  (The Court notes that it cannot grant summary adjudication of a part of 
a cause of action.  Since the “denial” and the “retaliation” are pleaded as one cause of action, 
the existence of a dispute concerning “retaliation” for the late-July four-day leave precludes any 
ruling favorable to Defendant concerning the “denial,” even though there is no dispute that 
Defendant never denied a request for a CFRA leave.) 

 Summary adjudication of the second cause of action for violation of the Family Medical 
Leave Act (“FMLA”), 29 U.S.C. Sections 2601, et seq. is also denied.  The parties make the 
exact same argument as above, and the analysis would be the same.   

 Summary adjudication of the third cause of action for failure to accommodate under 
Gov’t Code Section 12940(m) is denied.  Chevron contends that it had no duty to accommodate 
Plaintiff’s working restrictions because it had no reason to conclude that “oversleeping” was 
connected to Plaintiff’s back pain.  This is highly disputed.  Plaintiff testified that Chevron was 
well aware that he claimed his tardiness was connected to his back injury because he had 
explained as much to his direct supervisor, Hank Angeli, and the Acting Chief, Robert Liening, 
on August 3, 2011 when he delivered his Kaiser work restrictions to Chevron, the day before he 
was to return to work.  Plaintiff explained that he had injured his back at work and was trying to 
take care of it himself, but “had ended up losing sleep.”  See Damoude Decl., paragraph 11.  He 
explained that he had to take 800 mg of Motrin and Nyquil in the early morning hours of July 18, 
2011, in order to sleep due to his back pain, fatigue from overworking (with back pain) and 
personal issues.  See Adeyemo Decl., Exhibit D.  Defendant also had Kaiser’s diagnosis of a 
lumbosacral back strain and his work restrictions.  Hence, Chevron knew that the back injury 
was “real.”  Granting the opposing party the favorable inferences from the evidence, it requires 
no expert to conclude that lower back strain sufficient to warrant the numerous restrictions put in 
place for Plaintiff would cause him pain and likely a loss of sleep from the pain.   Plaintiff was 
also suspended the day he gave Chevron his work restrictions and return to work form.  He was 
not terminated for another 8 days, on August 11, 2011.  A reasonable juror could find that the 
failure to call ahead was related to Plaintiff’s back injury, and that declining to enforce the 
“AWOL” policy, even when he was on a last and final warning, would have been a reasonable 
accommodation of his temporary disability.  

 Defendant relies heavily on an unpublished federal district court decision, Pietro v. The 
Walt Disney Company (C.D. Cal. 2012) 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 144817.  Understanding that 
Pietro is not binding on this Court, it also concerns somewhat different facts.  In Pietro, as in this 
case, the employee failed to call in ahead of time to report that he would be absent.  The court 
in Pietro found that the illness (prostate cancer) was not the cause of the employee’s failure to 
call ahead.  In that case, however, the evidence specifically showed that the plaintiff or his wife 



CONTRA COSTA SUPERIOR COURT 
MARTINEZ, CALIFORNIA 

DEPARTMENT:   39 
HEARING DATE:   06/27/16 

 
 

- 3 - 

had in fact called in to report absences ahead of time on many occasions, which supported the 
conclusion that the illness did not cause the failure-to-report.  The Pietro court also distinguished 
another case, Humphrey v. Mem’l Hospitals Ass’n (9th Cir. 2001) 239 F.3d 1128, in which a 
doctor had provided a letter stating that the disability would cause lateness, on the ground that 
Mr. Pietro had provided no evidence supporting the link between the disability and being late.  In 
this case, however, the link between back pain, not sleeping, and taking pain relievers that 
might make one oversleep, is not something that requires an expert witness, at least for 
purposes of summary judgment.  Of course, at trial, the result might be different.   

Summary adjudication of the fourth cause of action for disability discrimination is denied for the 
same reason as the third.   

 Defendant’s request for judicial notice of the Complaint filed in this action on January 22, 
2014 is granted.  See Evid. Code Section 452(d) 
 
 Plaintiff’s evidentiary objections are ruled on as follows: 
 
Declaration of Cheronda Adeyemo 
 
 Adeyemo Decl., page 2, paragraph 5, lines 9-13:  Sustained – personal knowledge, 
foundation 
 
 Adeyemo Decl., page 3, paragraph 10, lines 3-4:  Sustained – hearsay 
 
 Adeyemo Decl., page 3, paragraph 13, lines 19-26:  Sustained – hearsay 
 
 Adeyemo Decl., page 4, paragraph 18, lines 15-18:  Sustained – personal knowledge, 
hearsay 
 
 Adeyemo Decl., page 4, paragraph 20, lines 25-27:  Sustained – personal knowledge, 
foundation 
 
 Adeyemo Decl., page 6, paragraph 25, lines 3-5:  Sustained – improper legal conclusion 
 
 Defendant’s objections to evidence are ruled on as follows: 
 
Declaration of Pamela Kong 
 
 Kong Decl., Exhibit 4:  Sustained – authentication (no page cites for where Plaintiff 
allegedly authenticated this chronology) 
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 2.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-01236 
CASE NAME: KJZ  vs.  WELLS FARGO 
HEARING ON MOTION TO COMPEL COMPLIANCE WITH DEPOSITION SUBPOENA 
FILED BY WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A. 
* TENTATIVE RULING: *  
 
Hearing continued to 7/11/16 at the request of parties. 
 
 
  
 3.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-01936 
CASE NAME: CHERYL A. MORRIS  vs.  BMW USA 
HEARING ON DEMURRER TO 2nd Amended COMPLAINT of MORRIS 
FILED BY BMW OF NORTH AMERICA, LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Before the Court is a demurrer (the “Demurrer”) and motion to strike (the “Motion”) filed by 
defendant BMW of North America, LLC (“BMW”). Both the Demurrer and the Motion relate to 
the Second Amended Complaint (“2AC”) filed by plaintiff Cheryl Alexander Morris (“Morris”), 
and are opposed by Morris. 

Relevant Factual Allegations and Procedural History 

The 2AC alleges that Morris leased a 2005 BMW 330 CICA (“Vehicle”) from Concord BMW in 
October 2005, and subsequently purchased the Vehicle from Concord BMW in August 2007. 
(2AC ¶¶ 7-8.) The 2AC further alleges that on June 2, 2013, the driver’s side airbag deployed for 
no apparent reason, causing injury to Morris and damage to the Vehicle. (2AC ¶ 9.) Morris took 
the Vehicle to Weatherford BMW, and was told that the airbag had not malfunctioned and that 
BMW was not liable for her injuries or the damage to the Vehicle. Morris relied on what 
Weatherford BMW told her concerning the lack of a malfunction and BMW’s non-responsibility 
for her damages. (2AC ¶¶ 10, 14.) In July 2015, Morris received a safety recall notice that 
applied to the driver’s side airbag. The safety recall notice indicated, among other things, that 
the driver’s side airbag could malfunction and cause the same injuries Morris suffered. (2AC 
¶ 15; Ex. A.) 

Morris filed her complaint on October 27, 2015, more than two years after the injury-causing 
event. 

Discussion 

The crux of both the Demurrer and the Motion is that Morris’s personal injury claims are time-
barred. The Demurrer is directed at the third cause of action in the 2AC, for negligent infliction of 
emotional distress and the Motion seeks to strike references to Morris’s alleged personal injuries 
found elsewhere in the 2AC. Because the Demurrer and the Motion raise the same issue, the 
Court addresses them together. 

Personal injury claims ordinarily are subject to a two-year statute of limitations. See Code of 
Civil Procedure (“CCP”) § 335.1. However, the limitations period does not begin to run until after 
the cause of action has accrued. See, e.g., CCP § 312 (“Civil actions … can only be 
commenced within the periods prescribed in this title, after the cause of action shall have 
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accrued”); Fox v. Ethicon Endo-Surgery, Inc. (2005) 35 Cal.4th 797, 806 (“Fox”).  

Here, Morris argues that her personal injury claims did not accrue on June 2, 2013 (when she 
suffered injury) because the discovery rule applies. The discovery rule postpones accrual of a 
cause of action until the plaintiff discovers, or has reason to discover, the cause of action. Fox at 
p. 807. 

For the discovery rule to apply, a plaintiff must plead specific facts to show (1) the time and 
manner of discovery and (2) the inability to have made earlier discovery despite reasonable 
diligence. Fox at p. 808. To satisfy the second prong, the plaintiff must conduct a reasonable 
investigation of all potential causes of the injury. Fox at pp. 808, 811. 

Fox controls the disposition of the Demurrer and the Motion. Particularly relevant is the following 
passage: 

Here, however, we must assume to be true [plaintiff’s] allegations that she did not 
discover, nor suspect, nor was there any means through which her reasonable 
diligence would have revealed, or through which she would have suspected the 
[product] as a cause of her injury until [doctor’s deposition] 

Fox at p. 811. Fox further noted that the plaintiff needed to allege specific facts to support her 
allegations that she did not discover and could not through reasonable diligence discover the 
cause of her injuries. 

Here, Morris has alleged that she did not discover that her injuries were caused by a 
malfunction in the driver’s side airbag until she received the safety recall notice in July 2015. 
She also alleged that she conducted a reasonable investigation into the potential causes of her 
injuries by taking the Vehicle to Weatherford BMW and having the cause of the airbag 
deployment inspected. Morris has alleged that because Weatherford BMW told her that the 
airbag did not malfunction, and she relied on Weatherford BMW’s diagnosis, she could not have 
discovered that the airbag malfunctioned until she received the safety recall notice in July 2015.  
If proven, these facts would be sufficient to satisfy the “reasonable diligence” test of Fox. 

The Court notes that this matter comes before it on a demurrer, and resolution of statute of 
limitations issues normally is a question of fact reserved for the jury. Fox at p. 810. As Fox 
counsels, the Court must accept Morris’s allegations concerning her discovery of the cause of 
her injuries as true. And as set forth above, Morris has alleged specific facts concerning her 
failure to discover, and her investigation into, the cause of her injuries. Fox requires no more to 
overcome a demurrer.   

Through discovery, further motion practice, and ultimately, trial, the parties will have the 
opportunity to test the factual allegations made by the 2AC. But at this stage of the litigation, the 
Court will not resolve factual disputes concerning Morris’s discovery of her pled personal injury 
causes of action. When the Court takes all the factual allegations of the 2AC as true, as it must, 
Morris has alleged the facts necessary to invoke the discovery rule, and the Court cannot say as 
a matter of law that the discovery rule does not apply. As a result, the Demurrer is overruled and 
the Motion is denied. 

BMW shall file and serve its Answer on or before July 18, 2016. 
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 4.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSC15-01936 
CASE NAME: CHERYL A. MORRIS  vs.  BMW USA 
HEARING ON MOTION TO STRIKE PORTIONS OF 2nd Amended COMPLAINT 
FILED BY BMW OF NORTH AMERICA, LLC 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
See Line 3. 
 
 
  
 5.  TIME:  9:00   CASE#: MSL15-01706 
CASE NAME: MCNAMARA, NEY  vs.  LEAH MECCHI 
HEARING ON MOTION TO SET ASIDE DEFAULT JUDGMENT 
FILED BY LEAH MECCHI 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
The motion to set aside the default judgment and default is granted. 

 In response to the Court’s June 6, 2016, ruling on the motion to set aside the default 
judgment, Defendant Leah Mecchi (“Mecchi”) has filed a declaration disputing a number of the 
assertions in plaintiff’s counsel’s declaration.  First, she asserts that to the extent counsel’s 
declaration repeats out-of-court statements of process servers to prove the truth of the matters 
asserted, it is hearsay and/or not within the personal knowledge of the declarant.  This is only 
partly correct, however.  The Roberts declaration attaches an affidavit of the process server, Jeff 
Leeka, which is admissible.  To the extent that Paragraph 4 of that declaration goes beyond 
what is set forth in the Leeka affidavit, the objections are well taken.  Second, she denies 
evading service.  Third, she states that she was not living in Shasta County during July of 2015; 
and that she was not present at the Palo Cedro address in October of 2015.   

 Plaintiff responds by explaining in detail the efforts to serve Mecchi, and argues that it 
made diligent efforts to serve through other methods, which justifies service by publication.  
(The Court notes that if Plaintiff can show that Mecchi failed to respond to a properly received 
mail-service of a Notice and Acknowledgement of Service under Code of Civil Procedure 
section 415.30, Mecchi is liable for “reasonable expenses thereafter incurred in serving or 
attempting to serve the party by another method[.]” ) (Code of Civil Procedure, Section 
415.30(d).)   

 Plaintiff is correct about its diligence, but that is not the issue in considering a motion to 
set aside the judgment.  As noted in the June 6, 2016 ruling, even where service by publication 
is properly authorized, if it does not result in actual notice, the default may be set aside, if the 
defendant shows that “lack of actual notice in time to defend the action was not caused by his or 
her avoidance of service or inexcusable neglect.”  (Code of Civil Procedure, Section 473.5(b); 
Tunis v. Barrow (1986) 184 Cal.App.3d 1069, 1074.)  In considering the issue, “[u]nless 
inexcusable neglect is clear, the policy favoring trial on the merits prevails.” (Id., at 1079.)  
Mecchi’s declarations, in combination, establish by a preponderance of the evidence that, 
notwithstanding a properly authorized and executed service by publication, she did not receive 
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actual notice in time to defend the suit, and it was not due to evasion of service or inexcusable 
neglect on her part. 

 Accordingly, the motion to set aside the default judgment is granted, and the default 
judgment and default are vacated.  Defendant will file her proposed answer no later than 
June 30, 2016. 

 
  
 6.  TIME:  9:05   CASE#: MSP14-01088 
CASE NAME: TRUST CREATED BY AGREEMENT DATED MAY 11, 1995 
HEARING RE: AMENDED PETITION FOR COURT ORDER THAT 3RD PARTIES 
A & D FERRIGNO TURN OVER POSSESSION 
FILED ON 03/10/16 BY SHARON F COHUNE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Parties to appear. 
 
 
  
 7.  TIME:  9:05   CASE#: MSP14-01088 
CASE NAME: TRUST CREATED BY AGREEMENT DATED MAY 11, 1995 
SPECIAL SET HEARING ON: AMENDED PETITION FOR COURT ORDER INSTRUCTING 
TRUSTEE  /  SET BY PETITIONER, SHARON F. COHUNE 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Parties to appear. 
 
 
  
 8.  TIME: 10:00   CASE#: MSC14-01366 
CASE NAME: FAUSSNER  vs.  KOSUGI 
COURT TRIAL - SHORT CAUSE / 1 DAY(S) 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Tentative ruling procedure does not apply. 
 
  
 9.  TIME:  1:30   CASE#: MSP09-00491 
CASE NAME: GUARDIANSHIP OF CALI-LYNN SCOTT 
PROBATE COURT TRIAL RE: APPOINTMENT OF GUARDIAN FOR COLTON SCOTT 
FILED ON 02/19/16 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Tentative ruling procedure does not apply. 
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10.  TIME:  1:30   CASE#: MSP14-00655 
CASE NAME: GUARDIANSHIP OF CALI-LYNN SCOTT 
F/L SPECIAL SET HEARING ON: SEE RELATED CASE MSP09-00491 
* TENTATIVE RULING: * 
 
Tentative ruling procedure does not apply. 
 
 
 
 

 


